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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

LUCRETIA STEWART,
Plaintiff,

V.

CaseNo. 16-2781-DDC-KGG

EQUIFAX INFORMATION

SERVICES, LLC, and

CREDIT ONE BANK, N.A.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Lucretia Stewart limgs this lawsuit against tendants Equifax Information
Services, LLC (“Equifax”) and Credit One Bak,A. (“Credit One”), alleging that defendants
violated the Fair Credit Repanty Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1684t seq. All parties have filed
motions for summary judgment. Plaintiffhyiled Motions for Partial Summary Judgment
against defendant Credit One (Doc. 66) andrtdat Equifax (Doc. 68). Both motions seek
summary judgment in plaintif favor on defendants’ liabilitgn her FCRA claims. Defendant
Equifax has filed a Motion for Summary Judgm@bc. 61), as has defendant Credit One (Doc.
64). Defendants’ motions seek summary judghagainst plaintiff's FCRA claims.

After considering the parties’ arguments, tioeirt concludes that the summary judgment
facts, even when viewed in plaintiff's fayastablish no genuine issue whether defendants
violated the FCRA. The couttius grants defendants’ summary judgment motions and denies

plaintiff's motions seekingartial summary judgment.
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l. Uncontroverted Facts

The following facts are either stipulated fataken from the Pretrial Order (Doc. 71),
uncontroverted, or, where controverted, statetiénlight most favordb to the party opposing
summary judgmentScott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007).

The Parties

Defendant Credit One is a national bank gghin the business of extending consumer
credit in the State of Kansas and elsewhé&weedit One also is a fuisher of consumer credit
information. Defendant Equifax is a limited liability company and a consumer reporting agency.
Equifax is engaged in the business of iregporting in the State of Kansas.

Equifax’s Business, Policies, and Procedures

In its business, Equifax gathers infoima about consumers from various sources,
including banks, collection agenciesd court records. It then uses that information to create
credit files for more than 200 million consumers in the United States. Equifax uses those files to
prepare consumer reports that its subscriberpueshase and use to evaluate the consumer’s
potential credit risk as well agher permissible purposes.

Equifax accepts credit information frorawsces who it has determined are reasonably
reliable based upon Equifax’s own investigatiir source’s reputation in the community, or
Equifax’s longstanding business relationships whtéhsource. When Edak receives a request
from a company to become a data furnisher,niegally conducts an invegation to ensure that
the company is reliable. Equifax typicallygreres each company to complete a detailed
application and sign a subscritzgreement. The subscriber agreement requires the company to
certify that it will acquire onsumer reports only for permisk purposes under the FCRA and

that it otherwise will comply witlall FCRA requirements. They include the requirement that the



data furnisher investigate consumer dispufdse subscriber agreement also requires data
furnishers to supply only accurate, up-to-date information.

After Equifax receives an application, suliger agreement, andalid business license,
Equifax’s new-accounts department conductsaastigation of the company. This
investigation may include an onsite visit to determine the company’s legitimacy and reliability.

Data furnishers provide consumer credibimation to Equifax in a standardized
electronic format. Aftereceiving this data, Equifax conduetseries of computerized quality
checks before it adds that data to its consudatabase. These checks are designed to determine
whether the data is in the proper format and tvrethe data as a whole deviates from expected
norms (based on past experiencéwtiat particular source).

Plaintiff's Ex-Husband Opens a Credit One Account

Plaintiff resides in Kansadn 2005, plaintiff divorced hehusband. Although they had
divorced, plaintiff's ex-husband lived with her for some time during 2013, because he recently
had been released from jail and was facingricial issues. Arounddtend of September 2015,
plaintiff's ex-husband moved oof plaintiff's home after shasked him to leave.

In January 2016, plaintiff’'s ex-husband op&@eCredit One credit card account (“the
Account”). The credit applicain for this Account states thide applicant is plaintiff's ex-
husband, lists an address that &qiff’'s address, and adds plafhis an authorized user. The
application also provides plaintif’date of birth and it states ttste, as an authorized user, is
the applicant’s current spousBlaintiff testified that she didot know that her ex-husband had
applied for the card and identified her as an authorized user.

Plaintiff's ex-husband defaulted on his oblign for the credit card, and the Account

became delinquent. Credit One made a repdftjtofax that the Account was delinquent, and



identified plaintiff as an “authorized user” oretAccount. After Credit One made the report to
Equifax, the account appeared in the “Adverseodints” section of platiff's Equifax credit
report. It was her only Adverggccount. Also, Equifax’s credfile for plaintiff shows her
status for the Account as: “Agant Owner: Authorized User.”

Plaintiff testified that she first learned tishite was identified as an authorized user on the
Account when she checked her credit score andeatthat it had decled. But plaintiff has
produced no documents showing that her cisabite ever declined. Instead, the summary
judgment record contains several records shgwhat plaintiff's credit score never declined
during the relevant time period. Alsplaintiff agrees that authagd users are not responsible to
make payment on balances due.

On June 30, 2016, plaintiff submitted an online dispute about the Account to nonparty
Trans Union LLC. In response to plaintiff's ore dispute, Trans Union deleted the Account
from her Trans Union credit report.

That same day, plaintiff submitted an onlinspdite of the Account tBquifax. Plaintiff
identified the “dispute code” on the “Automat€dedit Dispute Verification” (“ACDV”) form as
“001.” The dispute code “00Iheans “not his account/her acmt.” Doc. 75-1 at 1. The
ACDV form offers many differendispute codes for consumersctwose to explain the nature of
the dispute. There are separate dispute codedeotity theft (003) ad fraud (004).

The exact words that plaintiff used to delse her dispute were transcribed into the
FCRA relevant information field on the ACDV fornPlaintiff described her dispute in this
fashion:

THIS IS NOT MY ACCOUNT SO ICAN ONLY ASSUME IT WAS OPENED

FRAUDULENTLY OR WAS POSTED TOMY BUREAU IN ERROR. |

PULLED MY BUREAU AFTER SEEING MY FICO SCORE HAD DROPPED
FOR LATE PAYS | SEE FOR FREE ON MY CITIBANK CARD.



Id. Plaintiff submitted no documents to support her aisp Plaintiff also did not use the phrase
“authorized user” in her disputdlaintiff never explained toduifax that her concern was that
the Account listed her as an hatized user. And plaintiff nevédentified her ex-husband as the
Account holder who had designdteer as an authorized usethout her permission.

Equifax’s Procedures For Reinvestigating Consumer Disputes

Equifax maintains detailed ppaies and procedures designedassure that it conducts
reasonable reinvestigations ofarmation that consumers dispus inaccurate. Equifax has
adopted several different, furniskepecific procedures for authorized users to use when they
dispute ownership of an accourquifax has no furnisher-spdciprocedure for a report by a
Credit One authorized user account whgpdies ownership of the account.

Equifax provides three different avenues f@oasumer to dispute information contained
on an Equifax credit report. Those three averare: (1) telephonesfiute; (2) written and
mailed dispute; and (3) online digps received through an Interpettal on Equifax’s website.
When Equifax receives a dispuitlocates the consumer’s creflie and opens an Automated
Consumer Interview System (“ACIS”) case thaicks the reinvestigatits process. Equifax
then reviews and considers all relevant infation (including documentation, if any, provided
by the consumer) and reviews the contents of tinsumer’s credit file. If further investigation
is required, Equifax notifies ¢hsource of the account infornati(the “data furnisher”) about
the consumer’s dispute, identifies the natnfrthe consumer’s dmite, and includes the
consumer’s account information as it tregpears in Equifax’s credit file.

When Equifax receives a consumer digpoy phone or mail, a person charged with
ensuring that the dispute is accurately categdrand coded reviews the dispute. But when

Equifax receives a dispute through its websigeitg online dispute pottano one reviews the



submission. When a consumer submits a despuEquifax through its website via its online
dispute portal, the consumer codes the dispaterding to the conswaris perception of the
alleged inaccuracy. No one at Equifax re\gatve coding chosen by consumers to describe
disputes when submitted through Equifax’s webdiets online dispute portal. Instead, an
automated process accepts the informatiorcdmsumer provides and sends it to the data
furnisher.

Equifax generally makes these communications to data furnishers by transmitting the
ACDV form. If the consumer provides PDF dmaents to support a dispute, Equifax also
includes the documents with the ACDV form thigirovides to the furnisher. When the data
furnisher receives the dispute from Equifax, mngelly is required, bothy its contract with
Equifax and by the FCRA, to conduct its owmastigation and repothe results back to
Equifax. If the data furnisher advises Heuito delete or otherwise update the account
information, then Equifax takes the necessantyon and notifies the consumer. After the
reinvestigation is completed, Equifax sendsdbesumer the results along with a summary of
the consumer’s rights under the FCRA, iiddal steps the consumer may take, and a
description of the procedures udedeinvestigate the dispute.

At Equifax, the individuals who handle consemdisputes must complete training. This
process includes training about Equifax’s vestigation policiesnd procedures. The
individuals first must particigte in classroom instructiomfter completing the classroom
instruction, Equifax requires eaplarticipant to pass a competgrest. If the participant

achieves a passing grade, Equifasvinies more on-the-job training.



Credit One’s Procedures For Investigating Consumer Disputes

When Credit One receives a consumspdte from a credit reporting agency, it is
obligated to investigate “reasonably” how théormation it is providing should appear. So,
Credit One employs extensive procedures faidliag ACDV disputes. @dit One has as many
as 150 employees who handle ACDV disputebouk five to eight of these Credit One
employees process ACDV disputes every shiifiese employees earn about $15 an hour or an
annual salary in the range of $32,000 to $33,000.

Credit One also uses overseas venddrs amploy about 200 people working around the
clock to investigate ACDV disputes. Althou@hedit One does not supervise the payroll and
timesheets for these employees, it does prgvéttormance feedback, constant communication
about quality, and joint training. These vendas®d conduct reviews of these employees. In
addition to the employees handling ACDV disputes, Credit One also employs fraud investigators
as members of its customer service team.

Credit One processes more than 110,000 F@Rputes each month. Credit One spends,
on average, about five to six minutes invesiigg a ACDV dispute But the amount of time
spent investigating a dispute also depends emd#ture of the documents provided by the credit
reporting agency.

Equifax and Credit One’s Response to Plaintiff’'s Online Dispute

Equifax created a ACDV form based on the dispute plaintiff submitted online in June
2016. On July 1, 2016, Equifax sent that ACDV fdorCredit One. The ACDV form used the
same language that plaintiff had used whemslibmitted the dispute to Equifax. It also

identified the same dispute cotat plaintiff had selected.



On July 2, 2016, Credit One received the ACDV form from Equifax about the Account
plaintiff was disputing. After receiving t&CDV form, Credit One began a dispute review
process. The review process is not automated; instead, a person reviews the dispute on Credit
One’s behalf. The reviewer views the ACDVplise form on one screen while reviewing Credit
One’s information about the consumer on anositeeen. After conducting this review, the
reviewer inputs Credit One’s response itite ACDV form and sends it back to the credit
reporting agency who generated the ACDV form.

In this case, Angela Andreas reviewed pi#fis dispute. Ms. Andreas is employed by a
vendor who contracts with Credit One hweéstigate ACDV disputes. When Credit One
investigates a dispute, it reliea the dispute code selected bg tonsumer. Plaintiff's selected
dispute code of “001” did natorrelate to the narrative thstte provided on the form.

On July 4, 2016, Credit One submitted a respaaghe ACDV to Equifax. Credit One’s
response to Equifax verified and affirmed itpading of the Account. Credit One confirmed
plaintiff's identification and listed her as an authorized w$éne Account. Credit One’s July 4,
2016 response concluded its invgation of the dispute. Thaame day, Equifax provided its
reinvestigation resutto plaintiff.

Credit One never investigated plaintiff'ssgute for fraud. But when she submitted her
dispute, plaintiff never coded her dispute as ionelving fraud. Insteadlaintiff had coded the
dispute as “not his account/her account.” Aueintiff recited thathe Account was not her
account so she “can only assume it was opened frantthubr posted to my bureau in error.”
Doc. 75-1 at 1.

In July 2016, plaintiff calld Credit One several times to ask about the reported

delinquent Account. RIntiff first called Credit One on Bu7, 2016. After this phone call,



Credit One removed plaintiff as an authorizesér on the Account. Yehe Account still
appeared on plaintiff's crédeport after that date.

On July 21, 2016, plaintiff again called Credit One. She again asked Credit One to
remove her as an authorized user on theoAot During that telephencall, plaintiff asked
Credit One for a letter confirming that it had reed the Account inaccurately and that it was
removing her as an authorized user.

In August 2016, Credit One drafted an AJRautomated universal data”) removing
plaintiff as an authorized usen the Account. Credit One waupposed to send the AUD to all
three credit bureaus. But nagenly, it never sent the AUD. On August 24, 2016, plaintiff
mailed a letter to Credit One again disputing its refhat plaintiff was an authorized user of the
Account. Plaintiff's August 24016 letter to Credit One agaasserted that she had no
knowledge that her ex-husband had made hauthorized user on the Account. On August 26,
2016, Credit One charged off the Account.

On September 3, 2016, Credit One sent a latldressed to pldiff's ex-husband at
plaintiff's address. The lettémformed plaintiff's ex-husband that Credit One had received a
request for account informatiorofn plaintiff. The letter reited that Credit One would not
release account information to atyrd party without a signed amobtarized power of attorney.

The Account remained on plaintiff's Equifaredit report until at least March 13, 2017.
The Account was identified as tbaly negative account on plaifits Equifax credit report. But
Equifax never issued a consunsegdit report about plaintiff ithe two years before she filed

this lawsuit.



Equifax’s records include a single dispubmat the Account—the one made by plaintiff.
Credit One received no other disputes frommiitiiabout the Account through any other credit
reporting agencies.

In 2016, plaintiff had an excellent credit ragiwith Equifax, Experian, and TransUnion.
In the past two years, plaintiff has not applieda new credit card, has not purchased a new car,
and has not applied for a mortgage. In the last two years, no one has denied plaintiff credit.
Plaintiff purchased a credit monitoring product fr&quifax so that she could monitor how the
Account was reported on her credit reports.

Il. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is apmpriate if the moving paytdemonstrates that “rgenuine
dispute” exists about “any matatifact” and that it is “entitletb a judgment as a matterlafv.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). When it applies thisrgtard, the court views the evidence and draws
inferences in the light mostvfarable to the non-moving partiNahno-Lopez v. Houser, 625
F.3d 1279, 1283 (10th Cir. 2010). “An issue of facgenuine’ ‘if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdimt the non-moving party’ on the issueld. (quoting
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). “Ardue of fact is ‘material’ ‘if
under the substantive law it is essential to the proggodition of the claim’ or defenseld.
(quotingAdler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 144 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

The moving party bears “both the initial den of production on a motion for summary
judgment and the burden of establishing that surpo@gment is appropriate as a matter of
law.” Kannady v. City of Kiowa, 590 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010) (citifrgiinor v. Apollo
Metal Specialties, Inc., 318 F.3d 976, 979 (10th Cir. 2002)). To mibét burden, the moving

party “need not negate the non-movant’s claim,nagd only point to aabsence of evidence to
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support the non-movant’s claim!d. (citing Sgmon v. CommunityCare HMO, Inc., 234 F.3d
1121, 1125 (10th Cir. 2000)).

If the moving party satisfiess initial burden, the non-movinggarty “may not rest on its
pleadings, but must bring forward specific fagti®wing a genuine isstier trial [on] those
dispositive matters for which darries the burdeof proof.” 1d. (quotingJenkinsv. Wood, 81
F.3d 988, 990 (10th Cir. 19965¢cord Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986);
Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248—-49. “To accomplish this, the facts must be identified by reference to
affidavits, deposition trangpts, or specific exhibits incorporated thereidler, 144 F.3d at
670 (citingThomas v. Wichita Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 968 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992)).

The court applies this same standard tesmotions for summary judgment. Each party
bears the burden of estshing that no genuine issue of matefait exists and that it is entitled,
as a matter of law, to the judgment sought by its mothih.Richfield Co. v. Farm Credit Bank
of Wichita, 226 F.3d 1138, 1148 (10th Cir. 2000). Cnosgtions for summary judgment “are to
be treated separately; the denial of does not require the grant of anotheBtiell Cabinet Co.,

Inc. v. Sudduth, 608 F.2d 431, 433 (10th Cir. 1979). Butere the cross motions overlap, the
court may address the legal arguments togetBenges v. Sandard Ins. Co., 704 F. Supp. 2d
1149, 1155 (D. Kan. 2010) (citation omitted).

Summary judgment is net“disfavored procedurahortcut.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 327.

Instead, it is an important procedure “desmjfte secure the just, speedy and inexpensive

determination of every action.’Td. (quoting Fed. RCiv. P. 1).
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[I. Analysis

The first section, below, addresses the crnaggons for summary judgment on plaintiff’s
FCRA claims against defendant Credit One e $hcond section discusdbe parties’ cross
motions on plaintiff's FCRA clans against defendant Equifax.

A. Plaintiffs F CRA Claims against Credit One

Plaintiff asserts that defeant Credit One violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1) of the
FCRA. Congress “enacted [the] FCRA in 197@tsure fair and accurate credit reporting,
promote efficiency in the banking sgst, and protect consumer privacygafeco Ins. Co. of
Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 52 (2007). Among othikings, the FCRA imposes various
obligations on “furnishers” who provide finaatand credit information to credit reporting
agencies (“CRASs”).See Chiang v. Verizon New England Inc., 595 F.3d 26, 35 (1st Cir. 2010);
15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2.

More specifically, § 1681s-2(b)(1) ofei-CRA imposes certain requirements on
furnishers of information who receive noticeao€onsumer dispute from a CRA. This provision
requires the furnisher to:

(1) investigate the disputed informatio(2) review all relevant information

provided by the CRA; (3) report the resutif the investigation to the CRA; (4)

report the results of the investigationaibother CRAs if the investigation reveals

that the information is incomplete or inaccurate; and (5) modify, delete, or
permanently block the reporting of the digmlinformation if it is determined to

be inaccurate, incomplete, or unverifiable.

Llewellyn v. Allstate Home Loans, Inc., 711 F.3d 1173, 1179-80 (10th Cir. 2013) (quoting
Pinson v. Equifax Credit Info. Servs., Inc., 316 F. App’x 744, 750 (10th Cir. 2009)¥ee also 15

U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1)(A)—(E). If a furnisherldao comply with itsobligations under § 1681s-
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2(b), the FCRA authorizes a consurteeassert a private cause of acti@hiang, 595 F.3d at
36; Tilley v. Global Payments, Inc., 603 F. Supp. 2d 1314, 1322 (D. Kan. 2009).

If a furnisher’s negligence violates tR€ERA, a consumer can recover her actual
damages.Llewellyn, 711 F.3d at 1179 (citing 15 U.S.C. 816(a)). The FCRA also permits a
consumer to recover statutory and punitive damdge violation was “willful.” 15 U.S.C. §
1681n(a)see also Llewellyn, 711 F.3d at 1179 (“Under § 1681n(a), however, the consumer
need not prove actual damages if the violatsowillful, but may recover punitive damages and
statutory damages ranging from $100 to $1,000.” (qudingingham v. Experian Info. Sols.,
Inc., 633 F.3d 1006, 1009 (10th Cir. 2011)).

In this case, plaintiff assarthat Credit One violated § 1682b)(1) because it failed to
conduct a statutorily-mandated reasonable invdsiigaf plaintiff's dispute about the Account.
Plaintiff asserts that the summigudgment facts establighat defendant Credit One’s
procedures for investigating a consumer’s FGiRgpute are unreasonable, and thus, plaintiff
contends, violate 8§ 1681s-2(b)(1)tbé FCRA as a matter of lawrhus, plaintiff asserts, the
court should enter summary judgment for gififinding Credit One liable for violating §
1681s-2(b)(1) of the FCRA.

Credit One disagrees. It asserts thatstimamary judgment record presents no triable

issues about the reasonablenegssahvestigation. In shor€redit One’s motion asserts that no

! In contrast8 1681s-2(a)’s requirement that a furnispeovide accurate information to CRAs

does not create a private cause of action for a congorassert against a furnisher of credit information.
See Chiang, 595 F.3d at 35 (noting that ory1681s-2(b), but nd§ 1681s-2(a), confers a private right of
action);see also Tilley, 603 F. Supp. 2d at 1322 (“Significantiyongress did not create a private right of
action for violations of § 1681s-2(a). These duties can only be enforced by governmental agencies and
officials.”).
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reasonable jury could find it negligehtSo, Credit One asks the court to enter summary
judgment against plaintiff's FCRA claim.

The court addresses the parties’ summaggment arguments in the following three
subsections. First, the courbprides the legal standard goviexy FCRA investigations. The
court next considers plaintif’summary judgment argumernts,, whether the summary
judgment facts establish thate@iit One’s procedures for instigating a consumer’'s FCRA
dispute are unreasonable as a matter of kamd finally, the court considers Credit One’s
summary judgment argument®., whether the summary judgmeatts create a triable issue
about the reasonablenesstefFCRA investigation.

1. The FCRA's Investigation Requirement

As provided above, § 1681s-2(b)(1) requirdgraisher, after it receives notice from a
CRA of a dispute about the completeness orraoyuof any information provided to it, to
investigate the disputed information. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1). But, “[t]he furnisher’s duty to
investigate arises only aftarCRA notifies the furnisher @f dispute and, conversely, does not
arise when notice is provided ‘directly from a consumewWillisv. Capital One Corp., 611 F.
App’x 500, 502 (10th Cir. 2015) (quotinglar v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, No. CIV 14-0226

JB/KBM, 2014 WL 7474082, at *13 (D.N.M. Dec. 17, 2014¥¢ also Chiang, 595 F.3d at 35

2 Credit One also asserts that: (1) plaintiffGRA claim fails as a matter of law because she has

established no actual damages, and (2) plaintiff igntitled to statutory or punitive damages under the
FCRA because the summary judgment facts fashimw willfulness. The court does not address these
two arguments because it concludes that plaintiff presents no genuine issue whether Credit One conducted
a reasonable FCRA investigation and, thus, Crediti®antitled to judgment as a matter of law against
plaintiff's FCRA claim. See, e.g., Nelson v. Equifax Info. Servs,, LLC, 522 F. Supp. 2d 1222, 1231 (C.D.
Cal. 2007) (after concluding that a plaintiff's FCRA claim failed as a matter of law, the court “need not
address whether [the furnisher’s] nongoiance was willful or negligent”)Cavin v. Home Loan Cir.,

Inc., 469 F. Supp. 2d 561, 573—74 (NID.2007) (after concludinghat defendant was entitled to
summary judgment against plaintiff’'s FCRA claitine court concluded that it “need not address whether
Defendant’s actions constituted a willful violation of the FCRA” or whether “Plaintiffs are required to
demonstrate actual injury in order to recover under the FCRA.”).
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n.8 (“A notice of disputed information providedetly by the consumer to a furnisher does not
trigger a furnisher’s duties under § 1681s-2(b).”). “Thus, a consumer ‘cannot recover under §
1681s-2(b) if [she does] not initiatiee process for recovery by ngiiig a CRA of the dispute.”
Willis, 611 F. App’x at 502 (quotingilar, 2014 WL 7474082, at *13).

In contrast, when a furnisher receives ncaifion of a dispute from a CRA, it must
undertake a “reasonable’ inwagation” of the dispute Maiteki v. Marten Transp. Ltd., 828 F.3d
1272, 1275 (10th Cir. 2016) (quotiBpggio v. USAA Fed. Sav. Bank, 696 F.3d 611, 616 (6th
Cir. 2012). The Tenth Circuit has defined eedsonable’ investigatid as “‘one that a
reasonably prudent person would uridiee under the circumstances!d. (quotingSeamans v.
Temple Univ., 744 F.3d 853, 864 (3d Cir. 2014)).

Whether an investigation was reasonalsider the FCRA “tura on what relevant

information was provided to a furnisher by the CRA giving notice of a dispute. {first
guotingBoggio, 696 F.3d at 617; then citing and quot{@igiang, 595 F.3d at 38 (“[A] more

limited investigation may be appropriate when CRAs provide the furnisher with vague or cursory

information about a consumer’s digp.””); then citing and quotin@orman v. Wol poff &
Abramson, LLP, 584 F.3d 1147, 1160 (9th Cir. 2009) (“‘@gress could not have intended to
place a burden on furnishers donglly to reinvestigate a partlar transaction, without any
new information or other reason to doubt the resiuhe earliermvestigation . . ..”). “[T]he
reasonableness of the investigatis to be determined by abjective standard,” and “[t]he
burden of showing the ingégation was unreasonable is on the plaintiftd. (quotingChiang,
595 F.3d at 37).

The Tenth Circuit has recogmid that “[w]hether a defelant’s investigation is

reasonable is a factual question normally reserved for trild. {quotingWestra v. Credit
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Control of Pinellas, 409 F.3d 825, 827 (7th Cir. 2005)). Bstimmary judgment [also] is proper
if the reasonableness of the defendant’s procedures is beyond quelstigguoting\Westra,
409 F.3d at 827). When appropriatecumstances are present rtciit courts have affirmed
summary judgments on 8 1681s-2(b) claimkd’ (first citing Chiang, 595 F.3d at 38-39; then
citing Gorman, 584 F.3d at 1161; then citijestra, 409 F.3d at 827kee alsoid. at 127677
(affirming summary judgment agest plaintiff’s FCRA claim plaitiff had not carried his burden
to show that a reasonable jury could codel from the undisputddcts that defendant’s
investigation of the dispute wan unreasonable one).
2. The Undisputed Summary Judgment Fact Fail to Establish that Credit
One’s Investigation Violated the FCRA as a Matter of Law to Entitle
Plaintiff to Summary Judgment.

Plaintiff asserts several reasons why, strgends, the summary judgment facts establish
that Credit One’s investigation waareasonable as a matter of lakirst, plaintiff argues that
Credit One’s investigation procedures are urorable because they don’t take all information
available to Credit One into accourBecond, plaintiff asserts thatredit One’s investigation
procedures are unreasonable in a general $ecseise of the way it employs people to review
ACDV disputes. Third, plaintiff contends that Credit Orginvestigation was unreasonable as
actually applied to this particular plaintiff. hely, plaintiff theorizeshat Credit One verified
plaintiff was an authorized user of the Account instgfadietermining that plaintiff’'s ex-husband

had identified her as an authorized usehuwiitt her permission. Thmurt rejects all three

arguments and it explains whytime next three sections.
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a. It was not unreasonable for Credit One to consider only the
ACDV form in its investigation (and not consider
communications that it receivel from plaintiff after it
responded to Equifax).

The undisputed summary judgment facts dstlabhat Credit One received an ACDV
form from Equifax with plainff’'s dispute about the Account a@ily 2, 2016. On that day, the
only information that Credit One had receiveduafthe dispute was theformation plaintiff
provided in the ACDV form. Amdependent contractor workirfigr Credit One then reviewed
the dispute form. Two days later, on J4|y2016, Credit One responded to Equifax, verifying
and affirming its reporting of the Accoums., that plaintiff was amuthorized user on the
Account. Plaintiff never had communicated wittedit One about the Account before that date.
Instead, the summary judgmeatts show that plaintiffs’ first contact with Credit One was on
July 7, 2016—after Credit Onedh@rovided its response to Etpx and after Equifax provided
its reinvestigation results to plaintiff. Sehen Credit One responded on July 4, 2016—it relied
on the information that it had received abowt dispute. That information included the ACDV
form but not plaintiff's communications bes®ishe hadn’t submitted those comments yet.

Plaintiff argues that, even though CrediteCaiready had responded to Equifax about
plaintiff's dispute on July 4, the FCRA imposadontinuing duty on Credit One to re-respond to
the dispute when it later learned more infotioraabout the Account dictly from plaintiff—
both on July 7 and afterward. Indeed, tiRA requires a furnisher to complete its
investigation within 30 daysSee 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681s-2(b)(2) (requiring furnishers to complete
the investigation requirements within the 30 dsgyscified by 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)). And,

plaintiff's July 7 communicatioarrived less than 30 days af@redit One received her dispute

from Equifax on July 2.
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But, as noted above, a furnisher’s dutynigestigate arises only when a CRA notifies a
furnisher of a dispute. No similar duty arises when a consumer asserts a digplise.

Capital One Corp., 611 F. App’x 500, 502 (10th Cir. 2015) (citation omittessys also Millet v.
Ford Motor Credit Co., No. 04-2450-CM, 2006 WL 130116& *4 (D. Kan. May 9, 2006)
(“Without notice by a CRA of a dispute, dafiant’s obligations under § 1681s-2(b) were not
triggered”). So, plaintiff's communications @redit One in July 2016iggered no investigative
duties under the FCRA. It is undisputed tBguifax received just one dispute about the
Account from plaintiff. And Huifax provided information abotiat one dispute to Credit One
by sending the ACDV form on July 2, 2016. Gtd&dine responded to that dispute on July 4,
2016. And the summary judgment record inctude facts showing that Credit One received
any other notices from Equifax or any other C&#out the Account. In short, after July 2,
nothing happened that re-initiated Credite@nnvestigative dutiesnder the FCRA.

Also, plaintiff asserts that the FCRA im@ssa continuing duty on a furnisher to re-
respond to disputes if it learnther information about the disguivithin that 30-day period. So,
plaintiff contends, when Credit @rearned more information about the dispute from plaintiff on
July 7—nbut after it already had respondedtmifax on July 4—the FCRA imposed a duty on it
to submit another response to Credit One aplaumtiff's dispute. But plaintiff provides no
authority to support this argumenAnd the case law and the statitself seem to contradict the
plaintiff's continuing duty thegr. Some courts have recognizbat a furnisher completes its
investigation when it provides the investigatiorésults to the consumer either directly or
indirectly through the CRASeg, e.g., Hinkle v. Midland Credit Mgnt., Inc., 827 F.3d 1295,
1302 (11th Cir. 2016) (observingath‘[s]ection 1681s-2(b) contengiks three potential ending

points to reinvestigation: verification atcuracy, a determination of inaccuracy or
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incompleteness, or a determination that thermédion ‘cannot be verified.” (quoting 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681s-2(b)(1)(E))Rapapport v. Green Tree Serv., LLC, No. 13-61624, 2013 WL 5728731, at
*6 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 22, 2013) (holding that an FCRA claim accrues iti@n the 30-day period
expiresor the furnisher of information notifies the consumer that it has completed its
reinvestigation). Although these cases nexglicitly decide whether the 30-day compliance
period imposes a continuing duty on a furnistieg,language from these cases suggests that a
furnisher’s obligation ends afterritakes its report back to the CRA.

Also, the statute’s plain languageguires the furnisher toeport” the results of the
investigation to the CRA—using “report” in teengular. 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1)(C). The
statute never contemplates multiple reports by a furnisher. And certainly, the statute’s plain
language establishes no requirement that the furnisher must satisfy a continuing duty to report
information that it learns aftergponding to a dispute but still within the 30-day time period for
investigation. If Congress had intendednbpose such a continuing duty, it would have
imposed that requirement explicitly.

Construing the FCRA to impose a continudhgy on furnishers to provide additional
information they learn during the 30-day periwould saddle furnishergith a significant
burden. Or, as Credit One descslhkat result, it would create‘lagistical nightmare.” Doc. 80
at 11. Credit One asserts that furnishers veckundreds of consumeisputes every week—an
assertion supported by the summary judgment faars. Indeed, the summary judgment record
shows that Credit One processes more t#8)000 FCRA disputes a month. Requiring a
furnisher to keep each of those investigatiopen for 30 days would increase the number of
open disputes to a staggering number. Witlaowiore explicit directive from Congress, the

court cannot conclude that tR€RA intended to require Credine (and other furnishers) to
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track each of these 110,000 disputes for a full 3&.d&lso, requiring furnishers to continue
providing multiple follow-up reports for those dispuies receives additional information is not
a result supported by the war@€ongress used in the FCRA.

Also, the Tenth Circuit requires a furnisheutwdertake a “reasonabl@ivestigation” of

the disputei.e., “one that a reasonably prudgmérson would undertake under the
circumstances.”Maiteki, 828 F.3d at 1275 (quotiripggio, 696 F.3d at 616). Plaintiff

provides no authority concluding thereasonable investigationaflispute requires a furnisher
to track the dispute for 30 days and theovjte updated information to a CRA if it receives
more information after making apert to the CRA. Indeed, our I€uit even recognizes that “an
investigation does not have to é&ehaustive to be reasonabléMaiteki, 828 F.3d at 1276. For

all these reasons, the court declines plfiminvitation to extend the FCRA and impose a
continuing duty on Credit One to submit anothegrort to Equifax after it already had responded
to the dispute on July 4, 2016.

In sum, the summary judgmefiaicts do not entitle plairitito summary judgment as a
matter of law. The admissible evidence inshenmary judgment record does not establish that
Credit One conducted an unreasonable investigafitie. summary judgment facts establish that
Credit One considered the available information when it respaondeguifax’s dispute on July
4, 2016. That information was the ACDV formdanot plaintiff's later communications. The
admissible evidence in the summary judgmenbrd does not establish that Credit One
conducted an unreasonable investigation wheaver responded a second time to the dispute
after plaintiff contacted it on Ju7 about the Account. Plaifithas cited no authority to support

her argument that Credit One had a continuingstgative duty to do soLikewise, plaintiff

has not persuaded the court that it should eskaslish a rule as a matter of first impression.
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For these reasons, the court eggeplaintiff’s first argumensupporting her Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment.
b. The summary judgment facts create no triable issue
whether Credit One generally uses unreasonable
investigative procedures.

Plaintiff next asserts that Credit One’s prdaees for investigating consumer disputes are
generally unreasonable. Sheicizes Credit One’s dispute predures because, she contends:
(a) Credit One employs few employees directlynigestigate ACDV disputes; (b) its employees
or contractors limit their investigation of eachglite to just five or six minutes; and (c) Credit
One limits its investigation to information el@ed relevant to responding to more than 110,000
disputes it receives in a montBhe asserts that these procedures increased the likelihood that
Credit One would permit inaccurate informatiorrémain on a person’s credit report, and thus
constitute unreasonable procedures astéemaf law. The court disagrees.

The summary judgment facts, even when viewgalaintiff's favor, establish that Credit
One employed extensive procedures for hagdi@DV disputes. Credit One employs about
150 people to handle ACDV disputes, and ésusverseas vendors who employ another 200
people to investigate ACDV dispmsg. Plaintiff criticizes Gxdit One for not employing ACDV
investigators “directly.” But she provides ndlaarity suggesting thatfarnisher can discharge
its FCRA investigative obligations only by datly employed employees. As the Circuit has
recognized, the FCRA requires furnishersdoduct a reasonable investigatidviaiteki, 828
F.3d at 1275. It does not mandate the specific ar@sm that furnishers must use to discharge
that mandate. The summary judgment factdbéistathat Credit One provides its contractors
performance feedback, constant communicatimuaquality, and joint training. No admissible

evidence suggests that the vendors used bgiCDne were merely a facade.

21



Plaintiff also asserts that Cie@ne’s employees “limit” their investigation to five or six
minutes. Doc. 67 at 15. But that's just lamargument and the summary judgment facts won't
support it. Instead, Credit One’s representatgtified that the amoutf time an employee
spends investigating a dispute depends owcliheacter of the documisnprovided. But, on
average, an employee spends about fivextongmutes investigating an ACDV dispute. The
summary judgment recoreotains no evidence that Credit One “limits” its employees’
investigation of ACDV disputet five or six minutes.

Last, plaintiff asserts that Credit One limits investigation to information deemed
relevant to responding to matitean 110,000 disputes it receives in a month. To the extent
plaintiff refers to Credit One’s failure to review information that it recenféa it responded to
Equifax about the dispute hereetbourt already has rejected thigument, above. And plaintiff
provides no other admissible evidence showiag @redit One confines its investigation to
certain information.

In sum, the summary judgment facts fail to bkth, as a matter of law, that Credit One’s
procedures for investigating ACDV complaintg anherently unreasonable in a general sense.
For this reason, plaintiff is ne@ntitled to summary judgment irer favor on her FCRA claim
against Credit One.

c. Itwas not unreasonable for Credit One to verify that
plaintiff was an authorized user on the account based on
the information plaintiff provi ded in her dispute form.

Finally, plaintiff asserts that Credit Omsahvestigation was unreasonable because it
verified plaintiff as an authorized user of thecAant (instead of determing that plaintiff's ex-

husband had identified her as an auttest user withouher permission).
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Here, it is undisputed thataintiff's ex-husband opendte Account with Credit One,
naming plaintiff as an authorized user ondlpglication. Her ex-himnd’s application also
provided plaintiff's address and daigbirth and identified plainti as his current spouse. Also,
there is no dispute that, on June 30, 2016, pfasmtbmitted an online dispute about the Account
to Equifax. And, on July 2, 2016, Credit Omeeeived an ACDV form from Equifax with
plaintiff's dispute &out the Account.

The summary judgment facts establish thainiff identified the dispute code on the
ACDV form as “not his account/her account.” BRt#f did not select a dispute code asserting
identity theft or fraud. Plairffialso provided a narrative about ltkspute. Her narrative stated
that the Account was not her account so shédc“only assume it was opened fraudulently” or
“posted to my bureau in error.” Doc. 75-11atPlaintiff provided no documents to support her
dispute; she never used the plkrésuthorized user” in her dismytand she never explained that
her concern was that the Accolisted her as an authorizedeus Plaintiff also provided no
information identifying her ex-husband as the éuat holder, or otherwise to explain that he
had designated her as an authorizser without her permission.

After Credit One received the ACDV forftrom Equifax, one of Credit One’s outside
contractors, Angela Andreas, rewied plaintiff's dispute. On July 4, 2016, Credit One provided
Equifax with a response to the ACDV. It veeifi and affirmed its reporting of the Account.
Credit One also confirmed plaintiff's identificati@nd listed her as anthorized user of the
Account.

Plaintiff asserts that Credit One’s investign was unreasonable because it reported to
Equifax that plaintiff was an authorized usetlod Account. Credit Oneever detected that the

Account should not have listed plaintiff as athawized user. But, the FCRA'’s investigation
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requirement is a “procedural” one: “An invagtion is not necessarily unreasonable because it
results in a substantive conclusion unfavorabkia¢oconsumer, even if that conclusion turns out
to be inaccurate.”Gissler v. Pa. Higher Educ. Assistance Agency, No. 16-cv-01673-PAB-

MJIW, 2017 WL 4297344, at *3 (D. @n Sept. 28, 2017) (quotingorman v. Wol poff &

Abramson, LLP, 584 F.3d 1147, 1161 (9th Cir. 2009)).s8| “the FCRA does not require
perfection, only a reasonable respons&lston v. United Collections Bureau, Inc., No. DKC 13-
0913, 2014 WL 859013, at *8 (D. Md. Mar. 4, 201M8nd “[w]hether a reinvestigation
conducted by a furnisher in response to a consametice of dispute iseasonable . . . depends
in large part on . . . the allegations providethi® furnisher by the credit reporting agency.”
Gorman, 584 F.3d at 1160 (quotiriyajewski v. Am. Honda Fin. Corp., 557 F. Supp. 2d 596,

610 (E.D. Pa. 2008)).

Here, the summary judgment facts fail to essdbthat it was unreasonable, as a matter of
law, for Credit One to verify that plaintiff was authorized user based on the information she
provided to the CRA,.e. Equifax. When Credit One received the dispute, the ACDV form
contained the only informationaihtiff had provided. She usdide dispute code “not her
account” and her narrative claimed that it wagt‘imer account” so she could “only assume it
was opened fraudulently” or “posted to my bur@aarror.” Doc. 75-1 at 1. She provided no
other information to inform Credit One that le-husband had listed plaintiff as an authorized
user on the Account without her permission. Thes#isputed facts fail to establish that Credit
One’s investigation of plaintif§ allegations as asserted ie hCDV form was unreasonable as
a matter of law.

Plaintiff also contends th&redit One’s investigation vg8aunreasonable because it never

routed the dispute to its fraud departmenniestigate. The summary judgment facts establish
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that Credit One employs fraud irste@jators as part of its customer service team. And they
establish that Credit One nevernd@rded plaintiff's dipute to a fraud investégor. But plaintiff
provides no support for her argument that an invastig is unreasonable, agnatter of law, if

a furnisher fails to forward it to a fraud irstgyator. Plaintiff ado never explains how

forwarding her dispute to a fraud investigatauld have changed the result of Credit One’s
report when the fraud investigataould have reviewed the sanméormation that Ms. Andreas
reviewed—the ACDV form. Indeed, to prevail arsection 1681s-2(b)aim, a plaintiff must
demonstrate “actual inaccuracies that a furnisher’s objectively reasonable investigation would
have been able to discoverChiang, 595 F.3d at 30. Here, plaintiff has adduced no admissible
evidence capable of supporting and inferenaé @redit One coultlave discovered the
inaccuracies based on the scant and incompifsiamation plaintiff provided. Indeed, a
furnisher has no obligation to contact a consumer about a dispute repdtiedurnisher by a
CRA because “requiring a furnisher to autoroally contact every consumer who disputes a
debt would be terribly inefficient and & action is not mandated by the FCRAChiang, 595

F.3d at 36 (quotinyVestra v. Credit Control of Pinellas, 409 F.3d 825, 827 (7th Cir. 2005)). So,
without contacting plaintiff tagather more information—saathing that the FCRA does not
require—Credit One only had the information ie t"RCDV form to consider when investigating
the dispute. The court cannot concludsdabon the undisputed facts that Credit One’s
investigation was unreasonableaasatter of law simply becaugenever involved its fraud

department in plaintif§ ACDV dispute.
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d. Conclusion
In sum, the court concludes that the undisgigsummary judgmentdts fail to establish
that Credit One’s investigation wainreasonable and thus violated FCRA as a matter of law.
The court thus denies plaintiffidotion for Partial Summary Judgment.

3. The Undisputed Summary Judgment Facts Create No Triable Issue
About the Reasonableness of Credit Geris Investigation and, thus, Credit
One is Entitled to Summary JudgmentAgainst Plaintiff's FCRA Claim.

Defendant Credit One asserts that it istlttito summary judgmenigainst plaintiff's
FCRA claim because no reasonable jury caaldclude from the summary judgment facts—
even when viewed in plaintiff's favor—that itsviestigative procedures violated the FCRA as a
matter of law. The court agrees.

Here, the summary judgment facts establish ghantiff disputedCredit One’s report to
Equifax that she was an authorized user on tmAnt. Plaintiff selectethe dispute code “not
her account” and recited ingmarrative portion it was nber account so she could “only
assume it was opened fraudulently™posted to my bureau inrer.” Doc. 75-1 at 1. After
Credit One received plaintiff's dispute from Efg, it investigated the matter by having one of
its contract employees, Angela Andreas, revie&g/ACDV form. And, that review determined
that Credit One’s records were consistent whthinformation it had reported to Equifax. The
Account’s application ligd plaintiff as an authorized usdt provided the same address and
birth date that plaiiff had provided on the ACDV form dser address and birth date. And,
based on the substance of plaintiff's disp@eedit One had no reasondoubt the accuracy of
its records.

Indeed, plaintiff never used a dispute codeidentity theft or fraud. She only asserted

that she “assumed” the Account was openlydtaently but she provided no other information
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that would have permitted Credit One to discern that plaintiff's ex-husband had named her as an
authorized user without her pession. She also never expliciigserted that she was disputing
the report based on fraud. Instead, plaintiffiyiied two reasons that she believed the account
was “not her account”: (1) she assumed it was ap&aedulently; or (2) itvas posted in error.
The court concludes that no reaable factfinder could find, baden the meager and equivocal
information provided, that Credne should have understood thkintiff was @serting fraud.

See Scheel-Baggs v. Bank of Am., 575 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 1040 (W.D. Wisc. 2008) (holding that
the consumer’s use of the word “fraud” in &stdn did not render a furnisher’s investigation
unreasonable when the other information the wores provided was “scant” and provided the
furnisher “no reason to conductrare thorough investigation”$ee also Westra v. Credit

Control of Pinellas, 409 F.3d 825, 827 (7th Cir. 2005) (affirming summary judgment against an
FCRA claim because the furnisher’s investigatizas “reasonable given the scant information it
received regarding the nature of [the conetlg} dispute” and noting that had the consumer
provided information “that the natuoé the dispute concerned fraud, th@anhaps a more

thorough investigation would have been warrantad™[g]iven the facts of [the] case, however,
[the furnisher’s] verification of [the consums information was a reasonable procedure.”
(emphasis added)).

On these undisputed summary judgment faws,easonable jury could conclude that
Credit One’s investigation of plaintiff's disputvas an unreasonable one. Credit One employs
procedures to investigate FCRA disputes. Ofnis contract employees reviewed plaintiff's

dispute. Credit One verified the accuracy of the information based on its records and the

information plaintiff had provide in the ACDV form. And it confirmed plaintiff's identification
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and listed her as an authoriaggkr of the Account in its Julf, 2016 report to Equifax. By
doing so, Credit One satistiéts obligations under FCRA section 1681s-2(b).

For these reasons, the court grants suminaiggment against plaiiff's FCRA claim
against Credit One.

B. Plaintiff's FCRA Clai ms against Equifax

The court now turns to the cross motions for summary judgoreplaintiff's FCRA
claims against Equifax. Plaifftasserts two FCRA claims amst Equifax under two different
provisions of the Act: (1) theeasonable procedures provis{d@® U.S.C. § 1681e(b)), and (2)
the reinvestigation provision (15 U.S.C. § 1681li(&))aintiff contends tht Equifax negligently
and willfully violated these provisions.

A claim for negligent noncompliance with1®81e(b) requires plaintiff to establish four
elements: (1) Equifax failed to follow reasonablegaedures to assure the accuracy of its reports
about her; (2) Equifax prepared a consumer tegdmout her that wasaecurate; (3) plaintiff
sustained actual damages; and (4) Equiftailare to follow reasonable procedures caused
plaintiff's damages.Wright v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 805 F.3d 1232, 1239 (10th Cir. 2015)
(citing Eller v. Trans Union, LLC, 739 F.3d 467, 473 (10th Cir. 2013@¢ also Cassara v. DAC
Servs, Inc., 276 F.3d 1210, 1217 (10th Cir. 2002).

A claim for negligent noncompliance with § 16@0irequires plainti to establish five
elements: (1) Equifax failed to follow reasor@plocedures in reingégating plaintiff's
dispute about her report; (2) hepoet was inaccurate; (3) plaifitsustained actual damages; (4)
Equifax’s failure to follow reasonable proceducesised plaintiff's danges; and (5) plaintiff

informed Equifax about the inaccuracyiright, 805 F.3d at 1242 (first citinQushman v. Trans
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Union Corp., 115 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir. 1997); then cit@grtez v. Trans Union, LLC, 617
F.3d 688, 712—-13 (3d Cir. 2010)).

The court elects to analyze the cross motlmnaddressing Equifag’motion first. It
concludes that Equifax is entiléo summary judgment against baif plaintiff’'s FCRA claims
for several reasons. Plaintiff's § 1681e(b) claim fails as a matter of law for two, independent
reasons: (1) plaintiff fails to adduce admisievidence creating a genuine issue for trial
whether Equifax failed to follow reasonable prdagees to assure the acaay of its report; and
(2) the summary judgment fagigeate no triable issue whethgguifax issued an inaccurate
consumer report to a third parband plaintiff's § 1681i(a) claim fés as a matter of law because
plaintiff adduces no admissible evidence creatitriphle issue whether Equifax failed to follow
reasonable procedures when reinvestigatingfits dispute about hereport. For these
reasons,the court grants summary judgment agaugh of plaintiff's FCRA claims. The court
explains its reasoning in greatdetail below.

The court also concludes that plaingffould not prevail on her Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment on her FCRRims against Equifax. Plaintiff seeks partial summary
judgment in her favor on the elements of RERA claims requiring Equifax to follow
reasonable procedures to assure the accurdtyreports and for reinvestigating plaintiff's
dispute about her report. Plafhasserts that the summary judgnt facts establish, as a matter
of law, that Equifax’s procedeas were unreasonable. Buttlas court concides below, the

summary judgment facts, even when viewed in plaintiffs’ favor, presetrtable issues about

3 Equifax also asserts that it is entitled to sumynadgment against plaintiffs FCRA claims

because she has come forward with no admissibleretdsupporting an issue for trial whether: (1)
Equifax reported inaccurate information; (2) plaingiistained actual damages; or (3) Equifax’s alleged
FCRA violations were willful. Because the cooadncludes that the summary judgment facts fail to
present an issue for the jury to decide on other reqlements of plaintiff's FCRA claims, the court
need not address Equifax’s remaining arguments.
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the reasonableness of Equifax’s proceduresrdsdsonable jury couliihd for plaintiff on her
claims against Equifax, so the court alsaids plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment.
1. The Summary Judgment Facts Pesent No Genuine Issue Whether
Equifax Failed to Follow Reasonable Procedures When Preparing a
Consumer Report to Support Plaintiff's FCRA Claim Under § 1681e(b).
Equifax asserts that thewrt should grant summary judgment against plaintiff's 8§
1681e(b) claim because the summary judgment record contains no admissible evidence capable
of creating a triable issue wther Equifax failed to followeasonable procedures when
preparing plaintiff's consumer report. Instead, Equifax asserts, the summary judgment facts
establish that Equifax reasonably relied ordirOne’s information when it reported and
reinvestigated the Account.
Three years ago, the Tenth Circuit recagdithat “[tlhe FCRA does not define
‘reasonable procedures,’” and the Tenth @irbas not yet addressed this terriVtight v.
Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 805 F.3d 1232, 1239 (10th Cir. 2015). t Baur Circuit explained that
“[o]ther circuits applying 8 1681e(b) have recamd the ‘reasonablenesstbé procedures’ is a
fact-dependent inquiry, ‘and whether the agefiotlpwed them will be jury questions in the
overwhelming majority of cases.’Id. (first quotingGuimond v. Trans Union Credit Info. Co.,
45 F.3d 1329, 1333 (9th Cir. 1995); then quotiatlin v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp., 936
F.2d 1151, 1156 (11th Cir. 1991)). But this oba@ipn does not eliminate summary judgment
in FCRA cases. Indeed, the Circuit explain®n cases where CRAs clearly employ reasonable
procedures, the issue may be decided on summary judgnengciting Crabill v. Trans Union,

L.L.C., 259 F.3d 662, 664 (7th Cir. 20013 also id. (affirming summary judgment against
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plaintiff's § 1681e(b) and § 1681i(a)(1)(A) clairnecause, the Circuit concluded, defendant had
used reasonable proceduteseport and to reinvestigaplaintiff's dispute).

Here, plaintiff's only argumerthat Equifax’s procedurdsr preparing reports are
unreasonable is that it relied on information fsined by Credit One. But plaintiff provides no
explanation why it was unreasonable for Equifaddcso. Indeed, our Circuit has recognized
that “CRAs must look beyond information furnishtedhem when it is inconsistent with the
CRAs’ own records, containsfacial inaccuracy, or comesofn an unreliable sourceld. at
1239-4((first citing Cortez v. Trans Union, LLC, 617 F.3d 688, 708—11 (3d Cir. 2010); then
citing Stewart v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 734 F.2d 47, 51-53 (D.C. Cir. 1984); then citidgnnis v.
BEH-1, LLC, 520 F.3d 1066, 1069 (9th Cir. 2008); then citvghman v. Trans Union Corp.,

115 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir. 1997)). But “CRAs arenegjuired to research further when ‘the
cost of verifying the accuracy of the sourcetveeighs the ‘possible harm inaccurately reported
information may cause the consumerld. (citations omitted).

Here, plaintiff comes forward with no edce showing that the information provided by
Credit One was inconsistent with Equifax’soeds or contained a facial inaccuracy. The
summary judgment record also contains no@&we showing that Credit One was an unreliable
source. Instead, the summary judgment fadetéish that Equifax accepts credit information
from sources that it has determined r@&sonably reliable based upon Equifax’s own
investigation, the source’s regation in the community, or Equifax’s longstanding business
relationships with the source. Before Equiéacepts information from a data furnisher, it
generally conducts an invegation to ensure thatéhcompany is reliable. It also requires each
company to complete a detailed applicatiad aign a subscriber agreement that, among other

things, requires data furnishers to supply adgurate, up-to-date information. Then, when
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Equifax receives information from the data fuh@s Equifax conducts a series of computerized
guality checks before it adds that data sachnsumer database. Nmsonable jury could
conclude from these undisputed facts that Egu#és to follow reasonable procedures when
preparing consumer reports.

Plaintiff also has failed tpresent a triable issue whetheguifax’s procedures for
preparing reports are unreasonable simply bedausgorted information that, she contends,
was inaccurata,e., that she was an authorized user on the Account. Even if Equifax had
reported inaccurate information, “[a]n inaccuracwifcredit] report does not necessarily mean
that a consumer has a cause of actionairttie agency is automatically liableJbnes v. Credit
Bureau of Garden City, Inc., 703 F. Supp. 897, 901 (D. Kan. 1988) (citBryant v. TRW, Inc.,
689 F.2d 72, 78 (6th Cir.1982)). “The Act does crefate strict liabilig for a credit reporting
agency’s errors.ld. “Instead, liability turnsupon whether an agency has maintained reasonable
procedures to assure the maximum possibleracgwf the information in the reportld.

(citing 15 U.S.C. § 1681e). In this fashiong tRCRA “recognizes the reality of unavoidable
mistakes and imposes no liability for inacaies when an agency has followed reasonable
procedures.”ld.

So, when “a [CRA] accurately transcriyestores and communicates consumer
information received from a source that it readun believes to be reputable, and which is
credible on its face, the agency does notat®[8 1681e] simply by reporting an item of
information that turns out to be inaccurat€assara v. DAC Servs,, Inc., 276 F.3d 1210, 1217
(10th Cir. 2002) (citationrad internal quotation omittedyee also Saenzv. Trans Union LLC,

621 F. Supp. 2d 1074, 1081 (D. Or. 2007) (quoting the same language reCiéssaima and

concluding that defendant was entitled to relyfamrially accurate inforetion from a furnisher
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and that defendant’s procedurdid not produce the inaccuracytb@ inaccuracy, alone, “simply
does not permit any inference [about] the reasonabteaf [the defendaftRA’s] procedures”).

Here, plaintiff has come forward with noraisible evidence presenting a genuine issue
about the reasonableness of Equifax’s proceduses even if Equifax prepared an inaccurate
report about plaintiff, her 8 1681¢(blaim still fails as a matter ¢dw. The court thus grants
summary judgment against pi&iff's § 1681e(b) claim.

2. The Summary Judgment Facts Establish No Genuine Issue Whether
Equifax Issued a “Consumer Report”to Support Plaintiff's FCRA Claim
Under § 1681e(b).

The court also grants summary judgment asfgplaintiff’'s FCRAclaim under 15 U.S.C.

8 1681e(b) for a second and independent rea@me. element of a § 1681e(b) claim requires the
plaintiff to present facts capable of suppagta genuine issue whether Equifax prepared a
“consumer report” about her “thevas, in fact, inaccurate.See Wright, 805 F.3d at 1239. Here,
Equifax asserts, the summary judgment factenevhen viewed in plaintiff's favor, establish

that Equifax never issuedconsumer report about plaintifthus, Equifax argues, the court
should grant summary judgment against plaintiff's 8 1681e(b) claim for this additional,
independent reason. The court agrees.

In the Tenth Circuit, for a plaintiff “[tjo preail on [her] § 1681e(b) claims, [she has] to
prove not only that [a CRA] faiteto follow reasonable procedures. but also that it produced
inaccurate ‘credit reports’—[a terof art] defined in the FCRA . . . as a communication of credit
information to a third party—that wereetiproximate cause of [her] injuriesEller v.

TransUnion, LLC, 739 F.3d 467, 474 (10th Cir. 2013) (ficsting 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d); then

citing Cassara v. DAC Servs,, Inc., 276 F.3d 1210, 1217 (10th Cir. 2002)).

33



The FCRA also requires that “[wlhenevelGRA] prepares a consumer report, it shall
follow reasonable procedures to assurgimam possible accuracy of the information
concerning the individual about whom the reporttesdd 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b). So, for FCRA
liability to attach, a CRA must prepare a consumeport. A consumer report is “any written,
oral, or other communication of any infornmatiby a [CRA] bearing on a consumer’s credit
worthiness, credit standing, credit cappaacharacter, general reputation, personal
characteristics, or mode of living which is useexpected to be used collected in whole or in
part for the purpose of serving agactor in establishing the conseris eligibility for,” personal
credit or insurance purposes, employnmamposes, and other purposes. 15 U.S.C. §
1681a(d)(1).

As the Seventh Circuit has explained: “Téé no consumer pert unless there is a
‘communication . . . for the purpose of servagja factor in establishing the consumer’s
eligibility for’ credit or otherstatutorily enumerated purposes,, there cannot be a consumer
report without disclosurt a third party.”Wantz v. Experian Info. Sols., 386 F.3d 829, 833-34
(7th Cir. 2004) abrogated on other grounds by Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 56
n.8 (2007) (citingRenninger v. ChexSystems, No. 98 C 669, 1998 WL 295497, at *4-5 (N.D. IlI.
May 22, 1998) (internal citations omitted)).

Here, the undisputed facts establish th@itax never issued a consumer report about
plaintiff to a third party about pintiff in the two years beforghe filed this lawsuit. Although
Equifax prepared some consumer disclosurepléantiff in response to her requests for her
credit file or in response to heredit disputes, none of thesglisclosures qualify as consumer

reports in the sense that tRERA defines that term. 15 8.C. § 1681a(d)(2)(A)(i) (explaining
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that “the term ‘consumer report’ does not include any report containing information solely as
to transactions or experiences between the consumer aperiom making the report.”).

Plaintiff responds to this argument, asseytihat her credit repbshows that certain
companies viewed, obtained, or usent credit report when it showéuht she was an authorized
user on the AccountSee Doc. 83-4 at 40—41. But the crediport she cites cannot abide her
characterization of that evidence. The report shitat certain companies made “[ijnquiries that
do not impact your credit rating,” such as iimga that provided onlglaintiff's name and
address, or inquires that involvageriodic review of plaintiff' €redit history for a particular
creditor’s account. Plaintiff has adducedawidence capable of supporting a finding that the
companies—with these inquires—viewed or uaedquifax credit report that included
inaccurate information about plaintiff. Withoewidence to create a triable issue whether
Equifax prepared a consumer report and commuadcdiat report to a ittd party, plaintiff's
FCRA claim under § 1681e(b) fails as a matter of |8ee, e.g., Jackson v. Warning, No. PJM
15-1233, 2016 WL 7228866, at *6 (D. Md. Dec. 2816) (dismissing plaintiff's § 1681e(b)
claim because he never alleged that defendapigped a credit report about him and disclosed it
to a third party)Sgourosv. Transunion Corp., No. 14 C 1850, 2016 WL 4398032, at *4 (N.D.

lll. Aug. 18, 2016) (holding thatlaintiff had no “viable causef action under § 1681(e)(b)
because he was the only recipient of the [corsueport]” and “[b]ecause no third party ever

received that score, it is nodnsidered a ‘consumer report™ and thus “does not trigger the

protections of § 1681e(b).”).
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3. The Summary Judgment Facts Pesent No Genuine Issue Whether
Equifax Failed to Follow Reasonabld’rocedures When It Reinvestigated
Plaintiff's Dispute, as Required by the FCRA under 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a).
Equifax asserts that plaintiff’8 1681i(a) claim fails as a ttexr of law because plaintiff
has adduced no admissible evidence thatfexdollowed unreasonable procedures when it
reinvestigated plaintiff's dispute. Semti 1681i(a) requires CRAs teeinvestigate” the
accuracy of information disputed by a consuri&rU.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)(A). The statute “does

m

not define the term ‘reasonablémeestigation,” but “courts haveonsistently held a reasonable
reinvestigation requires more than ‘making onltyuasory investigation into the reliability of
information that is reported to potential creditorsWright v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 805
F.3d 1232, 1242 (10th Cir. 2015) (citi@grtez v. Trans Union, LLC, 617 F.3d 688, 713 (3d Cir.
2010)). “Thus, ‘[a] credit reporting agency tlmats been notified of potentially inaccurate
information in a consumer’s credit report isaivery different position than one who has no such
notice.” Id. (citing Henson v. CSC Credit Servs., 29 F.3d 280, 286 (7th Cir. 1994)). “In short,
when one goes from the § 1681e(b) investigation to the § 168&i(jestigation, the
likelihood that the cost-benefit agals will shift in favor of theconsumer increases markedly.”
Id. (quotingCushman v. Trans Union Corp., 115 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir. 1997)). Buta
reasonable investigation “does not require CRA®$olve legal disputes about the validity of
the underlying debts they reportld. (first citing Carvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, 629
F.3d 876, 892 (9th Cir. 2010); then citibgAndrade v. Trans Union LLC, 523 F.3d 61, 68 (1st
Cir. 2008)).

Here, the undisputed facts establish thaiifax maintains detailed policies and

procedures designed to assure that it condeetsonable reinvestigationsinformation that

consumers dispute as inaccurate. It empiogitviduals who handle these consumer disputes
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and they have completed a training processititiides classroom instruction, a competency
test, and on-the-job training. Whe&iguifax receives a disputi¢]Jocates the consumer’s credit
file and opens an Automated Consumer Intem@ystem (“ACIS”) case that tracks the process
of the reinvestigation. Equifax then reviearsd considers all relevant information—including
documentation, if any, provided by the consumend-geviews the contents of the consumer’s
credit file. If further investigation is geiired, Equifax notifies the source of the account
information about the consumer’s dispute, idéggithe nature of the consumer’s dispute, and
includes the consumer’s account information &sah appears in Equifax’s credit file. Equifax
generally communicates with data furnighby transmitting the ACDV form. Equifax’s
contract and the FCRA require the data furmisbeonduct its own inwatigation and report the
results back to Equifax. After Equifax receives thport from the data furnisher, it takes action,
if necessary, and notifies the consumer. Andemtine reinvestigation is complete, Equifax
sends the consumer the results.

The summary judgment record shows that Eeguiollowed this process with plaintiff's
dispute here. It sent the dispute to Credit One, and Crediv@nfied the accuracy of the
information. But plaintiff asserts that theseqadures were not reasonable ones for several
reasons.

First, she contends that it was unreasonahi&tpifax to forward the ACDV form to
Credit One without having a human being revtae information that plaintiff had submitted
online. But she fails to explahow a personal review of thd@anmation would have produced a
different outcome here. The only informatithrat plaintiff provided to Equifax was the
information on her dispute form. Plaintiff ag®eel that the Accourwas “not her account” so

she “can only assume it was opened fraudulently or posted to my bureau in error.” Doc. 75-1 at
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1. The only means Equifax had to investigate her dispute was to send the submitted information
to Credit One for it to verify the accuraof/the information Credit One had reported about
plaintiff.

Plaintiff asserts that Equifax’procedures place the burden on a consumer to select the
correct dispute code. But, as Equifax explains,dispute code is not the only information that
the consumer provides when completing the online dispute. A consumer also may provide a
narrative and attach doements to support the dispute. Pldiritere completed such a narrative.
And her narrative is consistenttivthe dispute code that she hedfselected—she asserted that
the Account was not her account. Equifax afers other avenues a consumer may use to
initiate a dispute—through the rhar by telephone. So, if plaiiff had any uncertainty about
how to code her dispute, she could heeptacted Equifax through another medium.

In sum, plaintiff fails to show thatdtiifax’s reinvestigatin procedures were
unreasonable simply because it uses an autorpatedss to transmit an online dispute to a data
furnisher without first involvng a human being.

Second, plaintiff asserts that Equifax’s raiestigation procedas are unreasonable
because they use different procedures for diffedlatd furnishers. But, as Equifax explains,
these procedures correspond tortiavestigation procedures thhe furnishers have chosen to
follow. Under 12 C.F.R. Pt. 1002, Supp. I, 8 1002)0fa creditor has #option to designate
all joint accounts (or all accountsttvan authorized user) tofkect the participation of both
parties, whether or not the accounts are held bgops married to each other.” So, as Equifax
explains, this authority gives a furnisher théiampto delete authared user accounts when
disputed. Some of Equifax’s data furnishiease decided to deletaithorized user accounts

when they are disputed in lieu of reinvestigatihe information. For those furnishers, Equifax
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follows a policy of deletion. But Credit One has doected Equifax to delete authorized user
account information upon receiving the dispuBm, Equifax has established no furnisher-
specific procedure for how to handle a reporalonsumer disputing a Credit One authorized
user account. Instead, Equifax follows a policyafivestigating consumer disputes when they
involve a report of a Credit Orauthorized user account. Tdéferences between Equifax’s
methods for handling consumer disputes foriftlrars who have directed Equifax to delete
authorized user information upon dispute createfriable issue abothe reasonableness of
Equifax’s reinvestigation procedures.

Third, plaintiff asserts that Equités reinvestigation procedes are unreasonable because
they did not remove the Account from her re@dtér she initiated the sjpute. But plaintiff
cites no legal authority for thewgument. In fact, as expted above, the regulatory guidance
permits the reporting of authorized user statisd, as Equifax explains, good reasons exist in
the credit industry for its practice adporting authorized user accounits, because the
information may assist lenders wheaking credit lending decisions.

For all these reasons, the court concludesglaattiff has failed to create an issue
warranting a trial to decide ptiff's claim based on reasonablemeestigation procedures. The
court thus grants summary judgmenaiagt plaintiff's § 1681i(a) claim.

4. The Court Denies Plaintiff’'s Motions for Partial Summary Judgment.

Plaintiff has moved for partial summary judgmt on the liability issues presented by her
FCRA claims. She asserts that the summatgment facts present no triable issue whether
Equifax failed to follow reasonable procedures to engweaccuracy of its reports and for
reinvestigating plaintiff's dispetabout her reportThus, she asserts, she deserves summary

judgment in her favor on Equifax’s FCRA liability.
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But as the court already has explained, pifiinas failed to demonstrate that she can
establish essential elements of all her FCR#tles and claims. In doing so, the court has
considered and ruled on all taeguments advanced by plaffi§ partial summary judgment
motion. These failings negate any basis fondifig—as a matter of law—that Equifax failed to
follow reasonable procedures for assuringabeuracy of its reporisnd reinvestigating
plaintiff's dispute about her pprt. The court concludes thabne of these arguments—even
when viewing the summary judgmiefacts in plaintiff's favor—ould establish liability on this
element of a § 1681e(b) or § 1681i(a) claim asadter of law. Indeed, the court’'s summary
judgment conclusion is the opposite of the oraenpiff advances. The court thus denies
plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summaryutigment against Equifax.

IV.  Conclusion

The court recognizes that piéiff is upset by the situain here. Her ex-husband opened
a credit card account,edtifying her as an authorized usathesut her knowledge or consent. It
is unfortunate that he did so. And it is alsoartiinate that he defaulted on the Account. But
plaintiff was not obligated or required to pag tteebt he created on that Account. And, when
plaintiff called Credit One to dispute the Awet on July 7, 2016, Credit One removed plaintiff
as an authorized user from the Account.sfie the Account’s listig on her credit report,
plaintiff had excellent credit tings with Equifax, Experian,jal TransUnion in 2016. And, in
the past two years, no one lieied plaintiff credit.

Although plaintiff complains laout how Credit One and Equifax handled her dispute over
the Account, the summary judgment facts, when viewed in her favor, simply can’'t support a

triable issue under the law governing her FCRAetai So, for the reasons explained above, the
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court grants defendants’ motiofts summary judgment and denigsintiff's motions for partial
summary judgment.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendant Equifax
Information Services, LLC’s Motion for Sunary Judgment (Doc. 61) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT defendant Credit One Bank, N.A.’s Motion for
Summary Judgment (Do64) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT plaintiff Lucretia L. Stevart’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment againstfeiledant Credit One Bank, Al(Doc. 66) is denied.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT plaintiff Lucretia L. Stevart’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment against defemdaquifax Information Serees, LLC (Doc. 68) is denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 2nd day of March, 2018, at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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